COURT OF APPEALS

COURT OF APPEALS

COURT OF APPEALS

2012 AUG 13 PM 1: 20

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY CM
DEPUTY

CASE # 43133-5-II

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FANNIE MAE aka FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION, Respondent,

V.

 $RONALD\ \&\ KATHLEEN\ STEINMANN,\ Appellants.$ 

APPELLANT'S AMENDED BRIEF

###

#### ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The Trial Court erred by failing to find a genuine issue of material fact concerning the Trustee's breach of its duty and the Trustee's actual conflict of interest.
- 2. The Trial Court erred by failing to find a genuine issue of material fact concerning the breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing in the dual tracking of loan modification and foreclosure.
- 3. The Trial Court erred by failing to find genuine issues of material fact as to who the actual holder/owner of the Appellants' Note and Deed of Trust, therefore which entity is actually entitled to complete the foreclosure.

#### II.

#### ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

 A Deed of Trust Trustee has a high degree of duty to both Grantor and Beneficiary and should not work for just one.

- 2. Did the legislature violate the separation of powers doctrine by reducing the Trustee's duty from a "fiduciary duty" to a "duty of good faith"?
- If the Trustee believes that it "works for the bank," is that an actual conflict of interest.
- 4. Does the dual tracking, processing a loan modification while also processing foreclosure, violate the covenant of good faith and fair dealing?
- Does the failure to disclose the decision –making owner
   of the loan violate the covenant of good faith and fair dealing.
- 6. Does the failure to correct misinformation in the loan modification interfere with the modification process and breach the covenant to cooperate in good faith?
- 7. Does the failure by the Trustee to require the beneficiary to affirm it is the holder of the Promissory Note result in a procedural omission which voids the foreclosure sale?
- 8. Does RCW 62A.3-301 et seq. require a beneficiary to prove to the Grantor/Borrower that it is a holder of the Promissory Note that is being enforced through foreclosure of a Deed of Trust?

#### III.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants, Ronald Steinmann and Kathleen Steinmann, purchased property in Clark County, Washington in 2001. (CP 113) They obtained a loan against the property in February of 2008 for THREE HUNDRED FIFTY THOUSAND (\$350,000.00) DOLLARS, with IndyMac Bank FSB as the Lender. (CP 114) In September of 2009 with Mr. Steinmann's income being reduced, they applied for a loan modification through IndyMac Mortgage Services, a Division of One West Bank, FSB. (CP 114) They were advised that they could not be helped by IndyMac unless they were in financial trouble and that would be reflected by being "in default" on their loan payments. They stopped making payments. As they commenced their loan modification process, they received a Notice of Trustee's Sale in January of 2010 with the sale date scheduled for April 30, 2010. (CP 114)

Appellants Steinmann received a "trial modification" from IndyMac Mortgage Services, a Division of One West Bank, FSB under the Federal Program known as the Home Affordable Modification Program (HAMP) and their payments were reduced.

Page | 3 - APPELLANTS AMENDED BRIEF

(CP 115) The pending Trustee's Sale was postponed at least three
(3) times with the latter postponement date in August being beyond
the one hundred twenty (120) days from the date of the original
sale. (CP 114, 121, 122 and 123)

In September 2010, the Steinmanns received Notice that their "trial approval" under HAMP was going to be discontinued.

(CP 115) They were told that the "owner" of the loan deemed them to not be eligible for HAMP because of "NPV inputs." In reviewing those inputs the Steinmanns realized the information had been erroneously inputted by employees of IndyMac Mortgage Services.

(CP 116)

The Steinmanns did not receive any Notice of
Discontinuance in August or September of 2010. They did receive a
"Notice of Discontinuance" dated January 24, 2011 and the
following day a "Notice of Default" dated January 25, 2011. (CP 114
and 115) (CP 124 and 126) Other than the Auditor's recording
number, there was no identification of any "Trustee's Sale" that was
being discontinued. (CP 115 and 126)

When the Steinmanns realized they were not going to be able to achieve the loan modification, Mrs. Steinmann begged the  $P \ a \ g \ e \ | \ 4 \ - APPELLANTS \ AMENDED \ BRIEF$ 

Regional Trustees Services Corporation to postpone the sale to allow time to work out the errors contained in the loan modification application. A representative of the Regional Trustees Services Corporation (Anna Egdorf) declined to do the postponement indicating to Mrs. Steinmann "We work for the bank, IndyMac, and we have to do what they say." (CP 116 and 117)

The last letter received by Appellants was from the Trustee dated June 21, 2011 stating One West Bank has addressed all concerns and the sale would take place June 24th. (CP 152)

Without obtaining a Restraining Order to stop the sale, the sale proceeded on June 24, 2011. The net result is that Fannie Mae, Respondent herein, purchased the Steinmann property at the Foreclosure Sale. It is now believed that Fannie Mae was the "owner" or "investor" of the Steinmann loan, but that is not revealed in any of the formal documents in this Non-Judicial Deed of Trust Foreclosure process. (CP 116)

This matter comes on before the Court as the Respondent,

Fannie Mae, attempts to evict the Steinmanns from their home
following the Trustee's Sale through an unlawful detainer process.

Page | 5 - APPELLANTS AMENDED BRIEF

The Honorable Robert Lewis entered an Order Granting Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment indicating that he had no genuine issue of material fact why they should not take possession.

Interestingly, Plaintiff/Respondent did not contest the truth of any of the stated facts. It did attempt to keep the statement of the Trustee employee out as "hearsay." The Motion for Summary Judgment was decided based on the Trial Court's understanding of the State of the law in Washington on Deed of Trust foreclosures and the consequential unlawful detainer process.

#### IV.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

A. <u>Motion for Summary Judgment</u>. The Standard of Review for an Appellate Court reviewing Motions for Summary Judgment is stated in the case of <u>Roger Crane & Associates v.</u>

<u>Felice, 74 WA App 769, 875 P2d 705 (1994)</u>. Therein the Court of Appeals stated:

"[1] <u>Standard of Review</u>. The Standard of Review of a Summary Judgment is well settled. We engage in the same

Page | 6 - APPELLANTS AMENDED BRIEF

inquiry as the Trial Court and review the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party." [citation omitted] Roger Crane & Associates & Felice, supra page 773.

A Motion for Summary Judgment is to allow the Trial Court to determine whether or not there is any genuine issue of material fact pursuant to Civil Rule 56. There are many cases outlining criteria for granting or denying such a motion. The case of <u>Balise v. Underwood</u>, 62 WA 2d 195, 381 P2d 966 (1963) outlines it succinctly.

"(1) the object and function of the summary judgment procedure is to avoid a useless trial; however, a trial is not useless, but is absolutely necessary where there is a genuine issue as to any material fact. [citation omitted]

• • •

- (3) A material fact is one upon which the outcome of the litigation depends. [citations omitted]
- (4) In ruling on a motion for summary judgment, the court's function is to determine whether a genuine issue of material fact exists,

Page | 7-APPELLANTS AMENDED BRIEF

not to resolve any existing factual issue. [citation omitted]

< **+**(1+)

. . .

(7) In ruling on a motion for summary judgment, the court must consider the material evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom most favorably to the nonmoving party and, when so considered, if reasonable men might reach different conclusions the motion should be denied." Balise v. Underwood, supra page 199.

In <u>Wood v. Seattle, 57 WA 2d 469, 358 P2d 141 (1960)</u>, the Court ruled as follows:

"In ruling on a Motion for summary judgment, the Court must consider the material evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom most favorably to the non-movant party and, when so considered, if reasonable men might reach different conclusions, the motion should be denied because a genuine issue as to a material fact is presented. Brannon v. Harmon, 56 Wn. 2d 826, 355 P.2d 792 (1960). Considering Appellants evidence most favorably to him (for the purposes of this motion), we find that it presented a genuine issue of fact

Page | 8 - APPELLANTS AMENDED BRIEF

relative to his contributory negligence, and that the court erred in granting the motion for summary judgment." Wood v. Seattle, supra page 473.

Likewise, is Saluteen-Maschersky v. Countrywide Funding

Corporation, 105 Wn. App. 486, 22 P.3d 804 (2001):

"... A Trial Court's Order granting Summary Judgment is reviewed de novo on the record before the Trial Court at the time of the Order [citation omitted] Summary Judgment is appropriate if there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. [Citation omitted All facts and reasonable inferences from them are to be considered in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. [Citation omitted] The Motion should be granted if, from all the evidence, reasonable persons could reach but one conclusion. [Citation omitted | Saluteen-Maschersky v. Countrywide Funding Corporation, supra page 850 and 851.

Stated another way in Ward v. Coldwell Banker 74 Wn. App.

157. 872 P.2d 69 (1994), the Court held:

"... if reasonable minds could draw different conclusions from undisputed facts, or if all the facts necessary to determine the issues are not present, summary judgment is improper."

Page | 9-APPELLANTS AMENDED BRIEF

B. <u>Standard for Unlawful Detainer</u>. There are three (3) cases for the Court to consider in the context of Appellants' situation. Appellants are before the Court having failed to seek a pre-Trustee's Sale Injunction, having suffered the completion of a Trustee's Foreclosure Sale, and Respondents sought relief as the part of the Unlawful Detainer action allowed by RCW 61.24.060. That shifts the cause of action to RCW 59.12.030. In <u>Mundan v. Hazelrigg. 105 WN. 2d 39, 711 P.2d 295 (1985)</u>. The Washington State Supreme Court held as follows:

. . . .

In order to protect the summary nature of the unlawful detainer proceedings, other claims, including counterclaims, are generally not allowed. "It has long been settled that counterclaims may not asserted in an unlawful detainer action." [Citations omitted]

An exception to the general rule is made when the counterclaim, affirmative equitable defense, or setoff is "based on facts which excuse a tenant's breach." [Citation omitted]

**>** -> -, >

We create today not another exception, but a rule which is collateral to the

Page | 10 - APPELLANTS AMENDED BRIEF

general rule: Where the right to possession ceases to be an issue at any time between the commencement of an Unlawful Detainer Action and trial of that action, proceedings may be converted to an ordinary civil suit for damages, and the parties may then properly assert any cross claims, counterclaims, and affirmative defenses." Mundan v. Hazelrigg, supra pages 45 and 46.

There then followed Cox v. Helenius, 103 Wn. 2d 383, 363

P.2d 683 (1985), which arose directly out of a Deed of Trust foreclosure. There the Court held:

"Even if the statutory requisites to foreclosure had been satisfied and the Coxes had failed to properly restrain the sale, this trustee's actions, along with the grossly inadequate purchase price, would result in a void sale." See Lovejoy v. Americus, 111 Wash. 571, 574, 191 P. 790 (1920) and Miebach v. Colasurdo, 102 Wn. 2d 170, 685 P.2d 1074 (1984).

This has led to the conclusion that if the sale is "void," then that results in an ability to set aside the sale. This is affirmed in Savings Bank v. Julius Mink, 49 Wn. App 204, 741 P.2d 1043 (1987), wherein the Court of Appeals held:

"In <u>Cox</u>, the Court recognizes two (2) bases for post-sale relief: defects in the foreclosure process itself, i.e., failing to observe the statutory prescriptions, and

Page | 11 - APPELLANTS AMENDED BRIEF

the existence of an actual conflict of interest on the part of the trustee arising out of the performance by the Trustee by the dual role of Trustee under RCW 61.24 and the attorney for the beneficiary of the deed."

The nub of this standard is that if there is no question as to the right of possession, Respondents prevails. However, if there are facts showing the sale was invalid or void, then Respondents has no right of possession.

#### V.

#### ARGUMENT

- A. The Trial Court erred by failing to find a genuine issue of material fact concerning the Trustee's breach of its duty and the Trustee's actual conflict of interest.
- A Deed of Trust Trustee has a high degree of duty to both Grantor and Beneficiary and should not work for just one.

It is established in <u>Cox v. Helenius</u>, <u>supra</u> that the only way for Appellants Steinmann to avoid the consequences of the Unlawful Detainer Action following a Trustee's Sale is to have a "void sale."

Page | 12 - APPELLANTS AMENDED BRIEF

That will occur if there is some procedural defect or some other egregious matter results in the sale being void. That said, <u>Cox</u> goes on to say that because the Deed of Trust foreclosure is conducted without review by a court of law, the fiduciary duty imposed upon the Trustee is exceedingly high. The Trustee is a fiduciary to both the grantor and beneficiary and must act impartially between them. And quoting from <u>McHugh v. Church</u>, an Alaska case found at <u>583 P2d</u>, <u>218</u>, the Cox Court held:

"Nonetheless, the Trustee must 'take reasonable and appropriate steps to avoid sacrifice of the debtor's property and his interest,' "McHugh v. Church, 583 P2d at 214 and Cox v. Helenius, supra page 389.

The Cox principle was reiterated in Meyers Way v. University
Savings Bank, 80 Wn. App. 655, 910 P.2d 1308, (1996). In this case
the attorney was serving as Trustee for the bank and was arguably an
"employee" of the bank by virtue of having an Indemnity Agreement
wherein the bank indemnified the attorney. The Indemnity
Agreement did not include any provisions requiring Jones to adopt
the bank's position without regard to rights of the borrowers.

"... If the agreement in question had contained such provisions, we would, of course, agree with the appellant's

Page | 13 - APPELLANTS AMENDED BRIEF

position. But this agreement merely required the bank to indemnify the Trustee from any claims arising from his services, including any claims asserted by the grantor that the Trustee had breached his fiduciary duty to them." Meyers Way v. University Savings Bank, supra page 667.

The inference there is that the borrower's position was that if the Trustee adopted the bank's position without regard to the rights of the borrowers that would be a conflict of interest on its face.

Turning to the facts as submitted by Appellants Steinmann, the Trustee in question, Regional Trustees Services Corporation allowed its employee to state "we work for the bank, IndyMac and we have to do what they say." (CP 117) Clearly if it's the understanding of the employees of the Trustee that they must do the bank's bidding, then they apparently do the bank's bidding without regard to the rights of the borrowers (Steinmanns). The Steinmanns were trying to buy a little more time before the foreclosure sale so that they could get IndyMac to understand that the NPV facts that had been inserted into the computer were wrong and resulted in IndyMac or Fannie Mae not wanting to grant them the HAMP loan. The Trustee's letter is dated June 21, 2011, three days before the sale. It states essentially that it

Page | 14 - APPELLANTS AMENDED BRIEF

must do the bank's bidding. With mail service, Appellants would have only one or two days to start a lawsuit to restrain the sale. Not practical. The Trustee could postpone the sale in its discretion for any cause the Trustee deems advantageous under RCW 61.24.040(6).

2. Did the legislature violate the separation of powers doctrine by reducing the Trustee's duty from a "fiduciary duty" to a "duty of good faith"?

Now it should be noted that the State Legislature has changed the statute regarding the duty of the Trustee. In 2008 RCW 61.24.010 was changed to add the following subsections:

"3) the Trustee or Successor
Trustee shall have no fiduciary
duty or fiduciary obligation to the
grantor or other persons having an
interest in the property subject to
the Deed of Trust.

4) the Trustee or Successor Trustee has a duty of good faith to the borrower, beneficiary and grantor."

Appellants submit that the Legislature does not have the power to modify the findings of the court in <u>Cox, supra</u> and <u>Meyers</u>

<u>Way, supra</u> by having a lesser standard than that of fiduciary duty.

Page | 15 - APPELLANTS AMENDED BRIEF

The <u>Cox</u> Court was emphatic in its assertion that the Trustee has an "exceedingly high" standard. The <u>Meyers Way</u> court described how a Trustee would be under "heightened judicial scrutiny."

For the legislature to modify the case law and reduce the heightened scrutiny set by the Courts is a violation of the Separation of Power doctrine. Prior to 2008, there was no express statutory duty attributed to a Trustee. The Courts of Washington have ruled about the high standard of duty. In Marine Power and Equipment Co. v.

The Human Rights Commission Hearing Tribunal, 39 Wn. App. 609, 694 P.2d 697 (1985), the Court held:

"The legislature may not, under the guise of clarification, overrule by legislative enactment a prior authoritative Supreme Court opinion construing a statute."

3. If the Trustee believes that it "works for the bank," is that an actual conflict of interest?

There is a question of fact which arises to be a genuine issue of material fact as to whether or not the trustee in question had an actual conflict of interest. This should not have been resolved under the Motion for Summary Judgment. Either there were insufficient

Page | 16 - APPELLANTS AMENDED BRIEF

facts to determine the issues or reasonable minds could have drawn different conclusions.

This is emphasized in <u>Savings Bank of Puget Sound v. Julius</u>
<u>Mink, supra</u>, wherein the Court used the <u>Cox</u> decision quoted above and stated that an actual conflict of interest by the Trustee would result in post-sale relief.

By refusing to postpone the sale and stating One West Bank had met Appellants' concerns, Regional Trustees Services

Corporation was not exercising the heightened degree of fiduciary duty expressed in these cases.

- B. The Trial Court erred by failing to find a genuine issue of material fact concerning the breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing in the dual tracking of loan modification and foreclosure.
- 4. <u>Does the dual tracking, processing a loan</u> modification while also processing foreclosure, violate the covenant of good faith and fair dealing.

Page | 17 - APPELLANTS AMENDED BRIEF

Appellants now turn to the issue of dual tracking. This is the process in which the lender/bank encourages the borrower to refinance their loan to what may be more favorable terms and at the same time commences a foreclosure proceeding. Generally speaking, believing that they are in good hands with their banker/lender, the borrowers ignore the Deed of Trust foreclosure proceeding, thinking that the lender will approve the refinance. This is exactly what happened to Appellants Steinmann. They were first approved by the lender IndyMac Mortgage Services, a division of One West Bank FSB, to a trial process for a HAMP loan modification (CP115) and after seven (7) months were discontinued. In the meantime, a Deed of Trust Foreclosure had been started, postponed three (3) times and then just disappeared. (CP 114, 121, 122 and 123) The Appellants were told in September 2010 that their ratings under the HAMP process called "NPV" did not allow them to qualify. (CP 115) In a review of the numbers submitted by the IndyMac Mortgage Services personnel, the Appellants Steinmann realized that the numbers were erroneous and not the numbers that they had actually submitted in February of 2010. (CP 116) After Appellants waited months and asked repeatedly, instead of correcting the numbers, now IndyMac

Page | 18 - APPELLANTS AMENDED BRIEF

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