FILED COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II 2012 SEP 12 AM II: 37 STATE OF WASHINGTON BY

DEPUTY

No. 431335-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION,

Respondent,

γ,

KATHLEEN AND RONALD STEINMANN,

Appellants.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Tracy J. Frazier, WSBA #43986 Rochelle L. Stanford, WSBA #38690 PITE DUNCAN, LLP 621 SW Morrison St., Suite 425 Portland, OR 97205 503-222-2026 Attorneys for Respondent Federal National Mortgage Association

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

.

5

The only argument that the Steinmanns made against their eviction was that Fannie Mae does not have the right to evict them because the trustee's sale did not foreclose their interest in the property. CP at 106. The Steinmanns, however, are barred from contesting the validity of the trustee's sale as they failed to enjoin the sale before it occurred as required by Washington law. *CHP v. Boyles*, 138 Wn.App. 131, 137, 157 P.3d 415 (2007); *see Brown v. Household Realty Corp.*, 146 Wn.App. 157, 160, 189 P.3d 233 (2008). Because the Steinmanns are precluded from raising any issues of material fact regarding the validity of the TDUS, Fannie Mae is entitled to possession of the property as a matter of law.

C. The Steinmanns Failed to Enjoin the Trustee's Sale, Thus Barring Their Challenges to the Validity or Finality of the Sale.

A proper foreclosure action extinguishes the debt and transfers title to the beneficiary or to the successful bidder at a public foreclosure sale. *Albice v. Premier Mortg. Servs. of Wash.*, 157 Wn.App. 912, 920, 239 P.3d 1148 (2010). Any enumerated entity may restrain a trustee's sale on any proper found. *Id.* If a borrower does not seek an injunction under RCW 61.24.130 to halt a foreclosure sale, the borrower waives any claims that could invalidate the sale if the elements of waiver are met. Under this doctrine, a waiver occurs when a party (1) receives notice of the right to enjoin the sale; (2) has actual or constructive knowledge of a defense to foreclosure before the sale; and, (3) fails to bring an action to enjoin the sale. *Brown*, 146 Wn.App. at 163.

. • .

The Steinmanns have not raised a material issue of fact as to any of the three elements of the waiver doctrine. To begin, the Steinmanns do not dispute that they failed to sue to restrain or enjoin the sale, which is the third element. With regard to the first waiver element, the Steinmanns admit that they received all presale notices of the sale and foreclosure. CP at 114-15. The record shows the notices conformed to the requirements of RCW 61.24.040 and informed them of their right to enjoin the sale. CP at 133-36. The language in these notices is statutory under the Deed of Trust Act. RCW 61.24.040(f) ("The notice shall be in substantially the following form[.]"). The Washington Court of Appeals has repeatedly held that the statutory notices of foreclosure and trustee's sale will usually be sufficient. *Country Express Stores, Inc. v. Sims*, 87 Wn.App. 741, 751, 943 P.2d 374 (1997) (citing *Koegel v. Prudential Mut. Sav. Bank*, 51 Wn.App. 108, 114, 752 P.2d 385 (1988). Consequently, there is no genuine issue of material fact regarding the first and third elements of the waiver doctrine.

The second element of the waiver doctrine has similarly been established: the Steinmanns had actual or constructive knowledge of the facts that formed the basis of a claim which could invalidate a foreclosure sale.² A person is deemed to have constructive knowledge of a fact if a person exercising reasonable care could have known that fact. Denaxas v. Sandstone Court of Bellevue, 148 Wn.2d 654, 667, 63 P.3d 125 (2003). Generally only procedural defenses that arise during the sale itself (as opposed to substantive defenses) can form a basis for setting aside a sale, as there is no way for a borrower to be aware of these issues until the sale has taken place. Plein v. Lackey, 149 Wn.2d 214, 225, 7 P.3d 1061 (2003). For instance, courts have set aside a completed sale if during the sale the trustee sells the property for grossly below its worth, fails to accept a bid, or continues with the sale despite the borrowers curing the default. Albice, 157 Wn.App. at 921. These procedural defects must not be merely technical in

² By stating this standard Fannie Mae in no way believes that any of the Steinmanns' articulated bases for setting aside the sale are of merit, even if the did not waive them.

nature-rather; the defects must have unfairly harmed or prejudiced the borrowers. *Id.*

The Steinmanns have not raised an intelligible allegation of irregularity with the foreclosure sale process that could invalidate the completed sale. Instead, the Steinmanns believe the sale should be set aside because of substantive issues that they were aware of long before the sale date. Specifically, the Steinmanns state the sale process was "confusing" to nonlawyers, they were unsure as to who the beneficiary was, and they were denied the opportunity to see the original note and deed of trust. The record demonstrates that the Steinmanns knew of all of the issues prior to the sale's occurrence with ample opportunity to restrain the sale. Yet, instead of enjoining the sale, they contend that the trustee itself was required to voluntarily continue the sale date. This argument is untenable. Thus, the second element of the waiver doctrine is established and the Steinmanns' failure to enjoin the sale now precludes their post-sale challenge on these known bases.

D. The Trial Court Correctly Declined to Rule That There Was a Factual Basis for Setting Aside the Sale.

The Steinmanns urge this Court to engage in an inquiry concerning the proper holder of the note and seek to have this Court

-10-

void a trustee's sale in a post-sale challenge. As has been established, the Steinmanns have waived their opportunity to set aside the foreclosure sale. Fannie Mae argues that nothing before the Court warrants this extraordinary relief in derogation of the Washington Trust Deed Act. Even if the Court does not find that the Steinmanns waived their opportunity to challenge the sale, however they have still failed to show any valid basis for setting aside the sale. Thus, the ruling by the trial court should stand.

1. The Steinmanns Fail to Raise a Material Issue of Fact Regarding the Trustee's Conduct.

The Steinmanns assign error to the trial court's failure to find that the trustee had an actual conflict of interest, resulting in a breach of its duties to the parties. The only proof the Steinmanns offered to the trial court of a conflict of interest was an inadmissible hearsay statement in Mrs. Steinmann's affidavit alleging that an employee of the trustee told her that they work for the bank. CP at 116-17. Even if this contention were true, it would still not be a basis for setting aside the sale because they allege they had this conversation with the trustee a month before the sale date, but they did not enjoin the sale.

2. The Steinmanns Failed to Offer Admissible Evidence that the Trustee Breached its Duty of Good Faith.

The Steinmanns offered a declaration of Kathleen Steinmann in support of their argument against summary judgment that stated that an employee for the trustee had told her, to summarize, that they could not postpone the sale without permission from the foreclosing party. CP at 116-17. Fannie Mae objected to this statement as hearsay without an exception and moved to strike this portion of the declaration as inadmissible. CP at 169. The trial court determined that the statement was admissible, but provided no reasoning for its ruling. Report of Proceedings ("RP") at 15. Instead the judge concluded that the hearsay statement "appears to be properly before me." RP at15.

The trial court erred by finding this statement admissible. Declarations offered in opposition to a motion for summary judgment "shall be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein." CR 56(e).

When deciding a summary judgment motion, a court cannot consider inadmissible hearsay statements. *Dunlap v. Wayne*, 105 Wn.App. 529, 535, 716 P.2d 842 (1986); *Albright v. State Dept. of*

-12-

Soc. Health Servs., 65 Wn.App. 763, 770, 829 P.2d 1114 (1992)

(1992) ("[H]earsay 'does not qualify as evidence since a party must provide affirmative factual evidence to oppose a motion for summary judgment."") (citing *Dunlap*, 105 Wn.App. at 536). The Washington Rules of Evidence define hearsay as an out-of-court statement offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted. ER 801(c). Hearsay is inadmissible unless the statement falls under a recognized exception to the general rule. ER 801, 022.

While "[a] ruling on a motion to strike is discretionary with the trial court," *King County Fire Prot. Dist. No. 16 v. Hous. Authority*, 123 Wn.2d 819, 826 P.2d 516 (1994), the trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable reasons. *Burnside v. Simpson Paper Co.*, 123 Wn.2d 93, 107, 864 P.2d 937 (1994).

By deeming this hearsay statement admissible, the trial court abused its discretion. The trial court presented no tenable reason why this hearsay statement would be admissible, particularly given the weight of authority offered against admission. CP at 170.

H

3

II

3. Even If This Hearsay Statement Was Properly Considered, it Fails to Prove a Breach of the Trustee's Duty of Good Faith.

.5

.*.

The Steinmanns fail to raise a genuine issue of material fact that the trustee breached its duty of good faith to the parties. To begin, pursuant to Washington's Deed of Trust Act, a trustee is a neutral third party as between the borrower and the beneficiary. *Vawter v. Quality Loan Service Corp. of Washington*, 707 F.Supp.2d 1115, 1121 (W.D. Wash. 2010) (citing 18 William B. Stoebuck & John W. Weaver, Washington Practice, Real Estate: Transactions §20.1 at 403 (2d ed. 2004); John A. Gose, *The Trust Deed Act in Washington*, 41 Wash. L. Rev. 94, 96 (1966)). The legislature has established that the trustee has a duty to act in good faith, and does not have a special fiduciary duty to the borrower. RCW 61.24.010(3), (4).

The Steinmanns cite repeatedly to *Meyers Way v. University Savings Bank*, 80 Wn.App. 655, 665-66, 910 P.2d 1308 (1996), a pre-2008 case, for the proposition that a trustee owes an "exceedingly high" fiduciary duty because there is not judicial oversight. Even under a defunct standard, that case also establishes, quite clearly, that this duty is owed to both the lender and the borrower and does not "prevent a trustee from serving simultaneously as the creditor's

-14-

attorney, agent, employee or subsidiary." *Id.* at 666 (citing RCW 61.24.020). Only an actual conflict of interest can precipitate a breach of fiduciary duty. *Id.* at 667. Furthermore, as a matter of law, a trustee "is not required to make sure that the borrowers were vigilantly guarding their rights." *Id.* at 668. In *Meyers*, the court upheld an indemnity agreement between the lender and the trustee and stated that "[a] completed foreclosure is bound to result in an unhappy grantor, and often a grantor who may perceive, as in this case, breaches of fiduciary duty which ultimately prove not to have been breaches." *Id.* at 667.

 (\mathbf{A})

This same issue was presented, and rejected, in *Moon* v. *GMAC*, 2009 WL 3185596 (W.D. Wash. Oct. 2, 2009). There, the borrowers claimed that the trustee informed them it could not "postpone the sale without the consent of the lender GMAC." *Id.* at *10. The district court found that the borrowers had failed to explain how this statement was "inaccurate, misleading, or a breach of fiduciary duty." *Id.* In fact, the court observed that the trust deed act specifically states that a trustee "has no obligation to, but may" continue a sale on its own accord. Moreover, the court observed that not "all trustees of all deeds of trust have authority to postpone a foreclosure sale without the consent of the beneficiary." *Id.*

-15-

(distinguishing the facts from those in *Cox*, 103 Wn.2d at 390, on the basis that in *Cox* the trustee was representing the beneficiary in a separate law suit regarding the debt, and that this posed an actual conflict of interest). The Steinmanns have failed to present any authority that a trustee under the facts presented in this case could or should elect to postpone a trustee's sale.

्रः

Here, the record establishes that the Steinmanns were denied a permanent loan modification under HAMP. CP at 116. They were informed of this repeatedly, starting in September 2010. CP at 115-17, 134-35, 138-46. They protested the denial and requested that the trustee reschedule the sale, but did not seek an injunction. CP at 147 ("I am pleading with you to resolve this matter privately and civilly as to avoid burdening our courts with this matter. If I have to, I will see you in court. This is not an idle threat.") At the time of the sale, the Steinmanns were over \$31,000 in arrears. CP at 130. The trustee did not breach its duties to the parties by declining to continue the sale.

4. The Steinmanns' Other Factual Bases for Setting Aside the Sale Also Fail.

The substance of the Steinmann's other arguments for setting aside the foreclosure sale also fail. The fact that the Steinmanns were

-16-

confused, did not hire a Washington attorney prior to the sale, were "not familiar with the statutes of the State of Washington," or "never fully understood the various players" are not mistakes or defenses that can be imputed on Fannie Mae. CP at 98-99. In fact, such arguments were raised and summarily rejected in *Brown*, where the court of appeals held that for waiver to occur "a person is not required to have knowledge of the existence of a legal cause of action, but merely knowledge of the facts necessary to establish the elements of a claim" and that the failure or "inability to retain counsel... is not an excuse to the waiver doctrine." *Id.* (citing *Doutchette v. Bethel Sch. Dist.*, 117 Wn.2d 805, 814, 818 P.2d 1362 (1991). Here, the Steinmanns had actual or constructive knowledge of all of the allegations they believe invalidate the sale.

5.

E. The Steinmanns Claim No Burden for Proving Their Own Affirmative Defenses.

The Steinmanns argue that it was Fannie Mae's affirmative duty to prove that the foreclosure sale was valid. This is incorrect. In Washington, the party raising an affirmative defense has the burden of proving the defense elements. *August v. U.S. Bancorp*, 146 Wn.App. 328, 343, 190 P.3d 86 (2008). Therefore, even if the Steinmanns could raise that the sale was invalid as an affirmative defense, it is their burden to prove.

In particular, the Steinmanns instead argue that because Fannie Mae did not, as part of its eviction action, offer evidence as to who the holder of the note and deed of trust was, they failed to prove who was entitled to complete the foreclosure. App. Am. Br. at 27. They state,

> Since there was never any effort by [Fannie Mae] or [IndyMac] or any of the related agencies to prove to either the Trustee or the [Steinmanns] that they were actually the holders of the real Promissory Note, then there should not have been an Order Granting Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment because there is a material issue of fact. Did [Fannie Mae] or the foreclosing entity really have the Promissory Note in question? Was it a holder? Since that answer has never been satisfied either by RCW 61.24.030(7), or by the demand under RCW 62A.3-302 et seq., then there were clearly material issues of fact that were unresolved.

App. Am. Br. at 28.

38

Fannie Mae's right to possess the property rests upon a recorded TDUS, presented as evidence before the trial court. CP at 63, 86. The trustee's deed recites that the sale was conducted in compliance with the Act. These recitals are prima facie evidence of compliance and conclusive evidence in favor of bona fide purchasers and encumbrancers for value. RCW 61.24.040(7). A

party that purchases property at a foreclosure sale is not required to produce the original note and deed of trust as evidence to evict, as the Steinmanns argue.

.

F. The Steinmanns' Brief Contains Additional Arguments on a Number of Issues that Were Not Addressed in the Order Subject to this Appeal.

With limited exception not found here, arguments not raised in the trial court will not be considered upon appeal. RAP 2.5(a). The Steinmanns' brief is largely comprised of arguments and assignments of error that were not before the trial court during the unlawful detainer and not raised in summary judgment. As these arguments were not presented to the trial court they are not properly before this Court on appeal.

For instance, the Steinmanns assign error to the trial court's failure to find genuine issues of material fact regarding the "breach of covenant of good faith and fair dealing in the dual tracking of loan modification and foreclosure [sic]" and the trial court's failure to determine the "entity actually entitled to complete the foreclosure." App. Am. Br. at 1, 17-24. Moreover, they contend that RCW 61.24.010, as amended in 2009, violates Washington's Separation of Power Doctrine. App. Am. Br. at 15.

-19-

These arguments were never presented to the trial court and cannot be raised for the first time in an appellate brief.

G. Fannic Mae Is Entitled to Its Attorney's Fees and Costs.

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